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PREFACE

The initial purpose of this report was to conduct a thorough analysis of building materials at
the African Meeting House as it stood in 1982, in order to determine the feasibility of restoring the
building—with a minimum of conjecture—to a specified time in the 19th century. This mission was
later expanded to include a documentation search, after it was learned that important religious and
civic records had been either overlooked by earlier researchers, or recently discovered. This report
is therefore an attempt to provide the comprehensive history of the building and the changes it
underwent through 1982, based upon historical documentation and the analysis of physical building
elements.

After this historic structure report (HSR) was written in draft form in 1982, it was used to
guide an extensive program of exterior and interior restoration and rehabilitation at the meetinghouse
in 1986-1987. This work was preformed by contract under the supervision of the North Atlantic
Historic Preservation Center. It was chronicled in detail in a completion report, and so was not
generally included in this report. In the few instances where 1986-1987 discoveries contradicted
1982 hypotheses, however, the 1982 report was revised accordingly.

This study is divided into five parts. Chapter I is an administrative overview. Chapter II
describes the historical and architectural background of the African Meeting House as provided by
written sources. Also included in this section are historical etchings, photographs, and architectural
drawings. Chapter III is the architectural analysis, which includes conjectural drawings based upon
information obtained from the study of extant paint, wallpaper, mortar, nails, and other hardware.
Chapter IV documents the existing conditions in the meetinghouse, through the use of photographs
and detailed site drawings. Chapter V presents recommendations for the restoration of the building.
(Chapters VI and VII are the appendices and bibliography, respectively.)

This report was prepared by the North Atlantic Historic Preservation Center (NAHPC) of
the National Park Service (NPS). The Preservation Center is part of the Office of Planning and
Resource Preservation, North Atlantic Region. It contains laboratories and analytical equipment, and
is staffed by historic preservation conservators and exhibit specialists who provide technical support
to the parks primarily within the North Atlantic Region. The document presented here was edited
and prepared for publication by Preservation Center technical editor Sharon K. Ofenstein.

[Editor’s note: Several changes occurred after the 1982 draft was revised in 1988, but before it was
published in 1994. Report author Barbara E. Pearson married and became Barbara A. Yocum. The
North Atlantic Historic Preservation Center became the Building Conservation Branch (BCB) of the
newly formed Cultural Resources Center (CRC), and it moved to new offices in Lowell,
Massachusetts. Finally, the North Atlantic Region’s Office of Planning and Resource Preservation
became the Office of Resources Management and Research.]
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I. ADMINISTRATIVE DATA




The African Meeting House is a three-story brick building located at 8 Smith Court, on
Beacon Hill in Boston, Massachusetts. Built in 1806, this structure is significant for its association
“with the creation and development of a free African American community within Beacon Hill prior
to the Civil War.”' Many important meetings were held here in the 19th century, including the
founding of The New England Anti-Slavery Society by William Lloyd Garrison on January 6, 1832.
From 1806 through 1897, the meetinghouse was used as a black Baptist Church. It then became a
Jewish synagogue, in which use it remained until 1972, when the building was purchased by the
Museum of Afro American History.

The African Meeting House was listed in the National Register of Historic Places on October
7, 1971. 1t was officially recognized as a site of national historic significance was bestowed when
it was listed as a National Historic Landmark on May 30, 1974. Further recognition of the building
came with the passage of Public Law 96-430, signed into effect on October 10, 1980. This act
established the Boston African American National Historic Site. It authorized the formulation of a
cooperative agreement between the Museum of Afro American History and the National Park
Service. Such an agreement—for a period of five years—was signed on August 4, 1981. (This
agreement has been reaffirmed several times; the current agreement expires in 1997.) In this way,
the African Meeting House became part of the Boston African American National Historic Site. The
impetus for this historic structure report is provided in part Ila. of the cooperative agreement, which
states that “The SERVICE shall assume primary responsibility for preservation, and restoration of
the African Meeting House as mutually agreed upon by the parties, subject to the availability of
funds.”

The number assigned to the African Meeting House by the National Park Service’s List of
Classified Structures is 22603. Its management category is “A - Must Be Preserved.” No specific
treatment or use is proposed in the List of Classified Structures for the meetinghouse. However, the
National Park Service’s Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Assessment for the
Boston African American National Historic Site specifies the following treatment:

The African Meeting House—under a cooperative agreement with the
Museum of Afro American History—will be restored to its appearance in
1855, when it was an important religious, social and political center for
Boston’s Afro-American community. . . . The restoration will involve the
preservation of as much historic building material as possible.?

The date of 1855 was chosen because it corresponded to a major remodeling of the structure
by its black Baptist congregation. This period in the building’s history is represented by the largest
amount of documentary and physical evidence extant today.’

! Public Law 96-430, 96th Congress.

2 National Park Service, Boston African American National Historic Site: Draft General Management Plan
and Environmental Assessment (Boston, MA: North Atlantic Region, 1984 [approved 1986]), p. 25.

* Draft General Management Plan, p. 29.



In terms of use, the draft general management report goes on to say:

The restored African Meeting House will be open for visitors and guided
tours and will be staffed and operated by the Museum of Afro-American
History with the assistance of the National Park Service. The meetinghouse
will once again be used for community meetings, ceremonies, exhibits and
special programs.*

Audiovisual programs will be developed to be shown in the sanctuary, and small interpretive
exhibits will be prepared for display on the adaptively reused first story. In addition to these regular
visitor programs, the meetinghouse also will be open for lectures, performances, and special events
of community interest.’

Such treatment will minimize the amount of conjecture involved in the restoration. It will
allow the historic significance of the meetinghouse to be interpreted to the general public. At the
same time, the building will continue in its historic use as a place of learning and public assembly.

The primary recommendation concerning the documentary sources used for this report
involve the records of the Congregation Libavitz, the Jewish congregation that owned the
meetinghouse from 1904 to 1972. The minute books, cash books, and ledgers that have survived
from that group are in the possession of the American Jewish Historical Society in Waltham,
Massachusetts. These books unfortunately do not cover all the years from 1904 to 1972, and only
those entries written after 1947 are in English; the earlier books are handwritten in Yiddish.

The earliest extant book of the congregation is a minute book dated November 1907 to
November 1914. Entries in this book that refer specifically to the building were translated from
Yiddish to English for this report. The next records of the Congregation Libavitz are the minute
books spanning the years 1923-1936, and the cash books covering 1930-1946. These books were
not translated into English for this study, due to the time constraints of our translator. Such
translation should be undertaken in the future; it is likely to describe alterations that, while not of
the historic period, are still part of the evolutionary history of the structure.

* Draft General Management Plan, p. 25.

5 Draft General Management Plan, pp. 25-26.



II. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND



ARCHIVAL SOURCES

The collections of the following institutions were consulted for information concerning the
historical background and development of the African Meeting House:

American Jewish Historical Society, Waltham, MA
- Congregation Libavitz Collection

American Baptist Churches of Massachusetts, Boston, MA
- historical records task force

American Baptist Historical Society, Rochester, NY
- general collection

Andover Newton Theological School, Newton, MA
(Franklin Trask Library, Special Collections)

- People’s Baptist Church file

- Boston Baptist Association minutes

- Massachusetts Baptist Convention minutes

Boston Athenaeum, Boston, MA
- photographic collection
- general reference

Boston Building Department, Boston, MA (City Hall Building)
- building permits division

Boston Edison Company, Boston, MA (Public Information Dept., Centennial Project)
- utility records (no information)

Boston Public Library, Boston, MA
- general reference
- City of Boston early records collection; see Assistant Director (no information)
- microfilm division
- Rare Books and Manuscripts Division

Bostonian Society, Boston, MA
- general collection

Building Conservation Branch, Cultural Resources Center, NPS, Lowell, MA
(formerly the North Atlantic Historic Preservation Center, Boston, MA
- general collection



Library of Congress, Washington, D.C., Prints and Photographs Division
- Historic American Buildings Survey collection

Massachusetts Historical Society, Boston, MA
- general collection

Massachusetts State Archives, Boston, MA
- Unpassed Documents & Papers Section

Massachusetts State Dept. of Public Safety, Boston, MA (Division of Inspection)
- archives collection (no information)

Museum of Afro American History, Boston, MA
- general collection

Society for the Preservation of New England Antiquities, Boston, MA
- Smith Court photographic collection
- general collection

Suffolk County Courthouse, Boston, MA
- deeds and land records collection

Watertown Public Library, Watertown, MA
- general collection

Despite the extensive document search that was done prior to and during the preparation of
this report, the record books of the black Baptist congregation that built the African Meeting House
in 1806 and occupied it until 1897 have not been located. Such records covering the years 1805-
1885 are known to have existed in fair condition in 1889.' At that time, they were reported “to be
in the possession of some duly authorized church official from whom the information in regard to
their condition was obtained.”” It is very possible that the records were subsequently lost to fire:
a few references have been found to a fire that destroyed the records, the earliest being a news
article published circa 1905.> However, it is hoped that these important documents will eventually
reappear to fill the gaps in the African Meeting House history.

! Carroll D. Wright, Report on the Custody and Condition of the Public Records of Parishes, Towns, and
Counties (Boston: Wright and Potter Printing Co., 1889), p. 64.

2 Wright, p. 9.

> “Began With Twenty Members: The First African Baptist Church Society Will Celebrate the 100th
Anniversary of Its Founding for a Week, Beginning Thursday Evening” (no newspaper name or date); Charles
L. Coleman, “A History of the Negro Baptist in Boston: 1800-1875” (unpublished master’s thesis, Andover
Newton Theological School, 1956), p. 58.



THE YEARS 1806-1850

Plans for building a place of worship for the First African Baptist Church in Boston
commenced shortly after the church was constituted on August 8, 1805.* A committee was
appointed to solicit funds, among whom was Cato Gardner, who is reputed to have raised $1,500.5
Encouraged in their effort after having raised $2,500, a second committee was appointed to
superintend the building of the church.® Consisting of six white men, the building committee
included Daniel Wild, auctioneer; John Wait, chocolate maker; William Bentley, baker; Mitchell
Lincoln, merchant; Ward Jackson, housewright; and Edward Stevens, baker.”

Site Acquisition

Land for the meetinghouse, “with building thereon,” was purchased from Augustine Raillion
‘by three members of the building committee on March 23, 1805. Costing $1,550, the land measured
49 by 59 feet.® The site was located on a short passageway off Belknap Street, on the northern
slope of the Trimountain later known as Beacon Hill.® This area had been populated after the
Revolutionary War by “a number of families of freed negroes.”*°

4 James O. Horton and Lois E. Horton, Black Bostonians: Family Life and Community Struggle in the
Antebellum North, p. 40.

5 William Lloyd Garrison, ed.,“Decade Meeting in Joy Street Church,” The Liberator, November 19,
1858.

® Lee M. Friedman,“A Beacon Hill Synagogue,” Old-Time New England, Vol. 33, No. 1 (July 1942),
p- 2.

7 Charles Shaw, Topographical and Historical Description of Boston (Boston: Oliver Spear, 1817), pp.
269-270; Frederic C. Detwiller, “African Meeting House: An Architectural/Historical Analysis” (typescript
dated July 1975; in SPNEA library, Boston), appendix.

8 Detwiller, “African Meeting House,” appendix.

® Allen Chamberlain, Beacon Hill: Its Ancient Pastures and Early Mansions (Boston: Houghton Mifflin
Co., 1925), p. 249.

' Chamberlain, p. 43.



Design

Original architectural drawings for the African Meeting House have not been found.
However, there is a remarkable similarity between a “Plan & Elevation for a Townhouse” in Asher
Benjamin’s 1806 book, The American Builder’s Companion (fig. 1), and the earliest known view of
the meetinghouse (fig. 2). Commonalities include their three-story heights, their vertical massing,
their brick construction, their use of doorways and windows set into blind arches at first-story level,
and the fact that their first- and second-story windows are of the same size. The meetinghouse
differs by being one bay wider, thereby making it symmetrical; by having square-cut lintels, where
none are detailed in the Benjamin design; and by having large windows on the top story.

The similarity has prompted speculation that the design for the meetinghouse was either done
or influenced by Boston architect Benjamin.'' It also has been proposed that Ward Jackson, the
only housewright on the meetinghouse building committee, may have been responsible for the
design.'? Jackson and Asher Benjamin were no doubt personally acquainted, both being members
of the Society of Associated Housewrights. Jackson probably was also familiar with The American
Builder’s Companion before its publication, since it had been submitted by Benjamin to a committee
of the society for review."

Construction

Actual work on the building may have begun as early as 1805, or possibly as late as the
following spring. The best information about the venture comes from a 1808 petition to the
Massachusetts State Legislature, under the title, “Cost of the African Meeting House.”™ As will
be explained shortly, the cost of erecting the meetinghouse exceeded the receipts collected for the
purpose. The building committee therefore filed the petition in hopes of reducing the deficit.

' Mitchell, Burditt & Associates, Inc., “The Historic African Meeting House” (typescript dated June 11,
1973; in SPNEA library, Boston), p. 1; Detwiller, “African Meeting House,” pp. 6-7.

12 Detwiller, “African Meeting House,” pp. 6-7.

P Gerald W. R. Ward, “The Society of Associated Housewrights of the Town of Boston 1804-1837”
(typescript date 1973; in SPNEA library, Boston), pp. 8, 52.

14 “Cost of the African Meeting House and a Resolve” (House Documents and Papers/Unpassed, Nos.
6402 and 6404, 1808; in the State Archives, Boston).

10



R

Figure 1. “Plan and Elevation for
A Small Townhouse” (1806).
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Figure 2. First Independent Baptist Church (1843).
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The petition was apparently submitted in two forms. The first submittal in 1808 was
primarily a narrative statement of the problem, with a few general financial figures given. The
second submittal is dated February 3, 1808. It appears to be a response to a request to provide more
detailed financial information, since it consists primarily of a itemized list of expenses and receipts.
In two cases, its figures differ from those contained in the earlier submittal by $25 and $35. Since
the February submittal appears to be more exact, its figures are cited here.

The February 3rd accounting stated that the "Total amount of cost of the meeting house" was
$7,691.48. This figure represented $7,791.48 worth of materials and labor, minus $100 obtained
by reselling—as will be explained shortly—some salvaged materials purchased but not used. Income
for the building of the meetinghouse came from several sources, for a total of $4,772.54. Of this,
$2,734 was obtained by subscription from individuals, from towns in Massachusetts and Rhode
Island, and from New Hampshire and the Province of Maine. Another $75 came from the sale of
the existing building on the lot. In addition, work and materials were donated totaling $540; and
pews were sold in advance, to “none but Africans and people of color.”*?

Some building materials were obtained by purchasing salvaged items for $365 from the old
West Church, built in 1736 and in the process of being rebuilt in 1806.° One early source
indicates that “the windows and a greater portion of the timber” at the African Meeting House came
from this purchase.!” No studies have been done of the Old West Church that would illuminate the
nature of the windows or other materials purchased by the African Church. Apparently the purchase
included additional material that was not needed: as stated previously, the African Church resold
some of the “Old Meeting House stuff” for $100 after their building was finished. (The material
from the old West Church thus may have been purchased by lot.)

The pulpit apparently also came from the old West Church, although it is listed separately
in the 1808 accounting as having been purchased from M. Ricknill for $107.50. This is based on
a reminiscence by the Rev. Charles Lowell, pastor of the West Church in 1806 that mentions the
pulpit. This reminiscence was published in the Boston Christian Register in 1853, and again in The
Liberator in 1858:

When the first church edifice that belonged to the West Parish was taken down in
1806, the pulpit—was transferred to the African Society who were then engaged in
erecting a church in Belknap street—.'®

Perhaps the pulpit was sold at public auction to M. Ricknill, who in turn sold it to the African
Church.

15 Friedman, p. 2.
16 Detwiller, “African Meeting House,” footnote 1.

7 First Independent Baptist Church and Society in Boston, “To the Public, and all who Encourage
Religious Elevation” (subscription dated 1853; on file at the Museum of Afro American History, Boston).

'8 Garrison, “Decade Meeting.”
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The 1808 accounting contains numerous entries of other materials. Briefly summarized,
specific building materials listed included sandstone ($308.30), slating (estimated $320.00), lumber
(195.13), and paint and oil ($14.31). “Sundrys” constituted by far the largest expense, totaling
$5,012.30. Of this total, $4,548 had been advanced by J. Wait, M. Lincoln, and W. Jackson,
members of the building committee. Materials were carted to the site for $20.96, and a horse either
bought or borrowed for $30.

It is commonly thought that only black labor was used to build the church.’ However,
research on the names appearing on the list shows that “although much was done by blacks, white
craftsmen and suppliers worked on the structure, as well.”?® The only labor costs itemized in the
1808 accounting were for carpentry and masonry work. A total of $1,512.77 was expended for
carpenter work, the majority of which was paid to A.T. Penniman. L. Merian and J. Shattuck
received lesser amounts for carpenter work. The expense for mason work was $656.47. A.
Barbados received the largest amount for this work, and J. Fish a lesser amount. Unspecified work
totaling $33.65 was provided by S. Coborn, J. Franklin, R. Tyng, T. Jarvis, W. Green, and R.
Field.

Construction was well underway by June 1, 1806, as was noted in the diary of another
William Bentley, the Congregationalist minister who chronicled many Boston-area events in the early
19th century: “The Brick Meeting House for the Blacks was . . . ready for the roof.”?!

The meetinghouse was almost completed when the pastor was installed on December 4,
1806,% and the building dedicated on December 6.2 The building committee invited the general
public to attend the dedication ceremonies:

The floor of the meeting house will be reserved for the accommodation of
the company who wish to attend, and the galleries will be for the
accommodation of the Africans and people of color.?

' Horton and Horton, p. 40.

» Ellen F. Rosebrock, “A Historical Account of the Joy Street Block Between Myrtle and Cambridge
Streets” (typescript dated December 22, 1978, and January 30, 1979; on file at the Museum of Afro American
History, Boston), p. 20.

2! William Bentley, Diary of William Bentley, DD: Jan. 1803-Dec. 1810, Vol. 3 (Salem, MA: Essex
Institute: 1911), p. 229.

22 Horton and Horton, p. 40.

3 “Historical Sketch of The Peoples Baptist Church of Boston Massachusetts in Its Connectional History,”
170th Anniversary Celebration: Peoples Baptist Church (1975).

* Friedman, p. 2.
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One Boston newspaper reported on December 8 that the attendance at the dedication had been “large
and respectable” despite the “very unfavorable” weather.?

Exterior Appearance

Almost no documentation has been discovered for the African Meeting House’s early exterior
appearance. An 1817 account says that it was “built of brick forty feet by forty-eight, three stories
high.”?¢ As stated earlier, the first known view of the African Meeting House is an 1843 engraving
(fig. 2). It is likely that this view gives a fairly accurate picture of the meetinghouse as constructed,
however. As will be described shortly, the meetinghouse’s congregation experienced financial and
organizational difficulties for much of the period 1806-1843, which probably would have precluded
the execution of extensive alterations. Repairs undoubtedly were made during these years, which
witnessed several notable storms, including the “Great September Gale” of 1815 and the “New
England Hurricane” of September 1838, during which the roofs of some Boston churches were
reported to have blown off.?

The 1843 engraving shows the north and east elevations of the building. The meetinghouse
is pictured as being three stories high; square, or almost so, with four bays on each side; and having
a gable roof with projecting cornice. The pattern of the brick walls is not detailed, but the brick
walls of today’s building indicate that mason A. Barbados conformed with the prevalent
neighborhood style, as described in the book Beacon Hill: Its Ancient Pastures & Early Mansions:

With a few exceptions brick houses built before 1810 on all sides of the Hill

. were laid up in Flemish bond, at least in the front walls. Side walls,
even when exposed and sometimes back walls, of such houses were usually
laid up with from five to twelve courses of stretchers . . . with one course
of headers.?®

Both doorways and ground-story windows are set into blind arches in the wall. The bottom
story of the east elevation is unfortunately obscured by another wall, except for the northeast corner,
where the shadow of a doorway is shown. The upper two stories on both elevations have two rows
of what appear to be rectangular sash windows, six-over-six, with square-cut lintels and sills. On
the ground story of the north elevation, facing the passageway, two windows of similar size to the
upper windows are located between two doorways. We know from an 1853 appeal for funds that

2 See footnote 23. Name of newspaper not given in Friedman’s article.

6 Shaw, pp. 269-270.

7 Carl Seabury, Boston Observed (Boston: Beacon Press, 1971), pp. 21, 24-25.
2 Chamberlain, p. 285.
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the windows installed in the 1806 meetinghouse had been salvaged from the West Church built in
1736.* These windows, which must have been extant in 1843—because they are mentioned in the
1853 appeal for funds—are shown in the engraving of the meetinghouse as being six-over-six sashes.
While this may appear to be large for 1736, it was not an unknown window style in 18th-century
America. Imported panes of large window glass were available as early as 1737, as evidenced by
an order placed by Thomas Hancock of Boston for “380 squares of best London crown glass, all
Cutt Exactly 18 inches long and 11 inches wide.”° Alternatively, it is possible that the windows
salvaged from the old West Church were replacement windows installed in the West Church
sometime after 1736, but before 1806, when it was dismantled.

The roofing material cannot be determined in the engraving of 1843, but it was undoubtedly
slate shingles, since slate was one building material listed in the accounting for 1808.?' This type
of roof would have conformed with the Statute of 1798 that required all roofs in the City of Boston
to be “entirely covered with slate, tile, or some incombustible composition. ”*?

Interior Plan

Several written accounts offer a glimpse of the interior layout of the 1806 meetinghouse.
These accounts generally refer to the first story of the meetinghouse as the “basement.” Apparently
this area was not finished in time for the dedication, since the 1808 petition to submitted the
Massachusetts Legislature stated that:

In the Basement Story a convenient school room for the instruction of the
Children of Colour throughout the town, and a tenement for their minister
. are nearly finished.”

? First Independent Baptist Church, “To the Public.” Studies of the Old West Church might illuminate
the nature of the windows and other material reused at the African Meeting House, but no such studies are
on file at the Society for the Preservation of New England Antiquities—the organization that has taken the
greatest interest in the Old West Church.

% Charles E. Peterson, ed., Building Early America (Radnor, PA: Chilton Book Co., 1976), pp. 156-157.

31 “Cost of the African Meeting House.”

32 Chamberlain, p. 287.

3 “Cost of the African Meeting House.”
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This appears to have been a fairly innovative floor plan. The Rev. Bentley says in his diary:

The lower story is prepared for a school and for the reception of the
minister. The first provision of the kind ever made in New England,
excepting in the new Catholic Chapel in Boston.?*

Concerning the sanctuary, Bentley goes on to say, “This House will have convenient galleries
and will be finished in the usual style of meeting houses with pews and benches.”*

The 1808 petition to the Legislature describes the number of pews in the sanctuary as being
“sixty on the lower floor and eight in the Gallerys.”*® The 1817 account says that “The upper two
stories are well finished with pews, pulpit, galleries &c.”®’ The 1843 engraving of the
meetinghouse is accompanied by a narrative, which says in part that the building “is very plain and
commodious, being capable of seating 600 persons. ™?

Remaining Building Debt

As stated previously, $4,772.54 was eventually raised for the construction of the
African Meeting House. Actual costs far exceeded that amount, however. The
advertisement issued by the building committee, inviting the public to the dedication of the
meetinghouse, stated that although the committee members had:

most strictly adhered to the principle named in [the] subscription paper; and
have faithfully applied all that has been received by subscription to the
purchase of the same . . . the expenses of the House . . . have exceeded the
former subscription twenty-five hundred dollars [sic].*

3 Bentley, p. 229.

35 See footnote 33.

36 “Cost of the African Meeting House.”

37 Shaw, pp. 269-270.

3% S.N. Dickinson, The Boston Almanac for the Year 1843 (Boston: Thomas Groom & Co., 1843), p. 88.
% Friedman, p. 2. No primary source or date given.
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A collection was taken up at the dedication to defray this overrun, but—despite the large
assembly—only $123.54 was collected.*

Following the dedication of the African Meeting House as the “First African Baptist Church”
in December 1806, money was still owed to members of the building committee who had contributed
private funds to construct the building. Consequently, an appeal was made by the committee to the
public:

It is hoped that a generous public will be willing to aid this benevolent
design, and by their subscriptions assist in discharging the remaining
balance, and in completing the school room, for the education of the people
of color of all denominations.*'

An outstanding debt of $2,918.94 existed when a petition was made for relief to the Senate
and House of Representatives of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in 1808.4? In this petition
it was stated that the total expense of the land and brick building was $7,691.48, and that the
basement rooms were “nearly finished.” Subscriptions and other fundraising efforts had accrued
$4,772.54, leaving the aforesaid unpaid balance. A proposal was made in response to the petition
to grant the petitioners unappropriated lands in the District of Maine. This compensation was
amended on March 2, 1808, from lands in Maine to the sum of $2,000. Despite the efforts of the
petitioners, however, the proposal was not accepted by the House of Representatives, and the African
Baptist Church remained in debt.

The money owed to the meetinghouse building committee was apparently not paid off until
1819. On September 17th of that year, the land and meetinghouse thereon were officially conveyed
by committee members Daniel Wild and William Bentley to the deacons of the African Baptist
Church.®

40 «Cost of the African Meeting House.”

*! Friedman, p. 4. No primary source or date given.
42 «Cost of the African Meeting House.”

# Suffolk County Registry of Deeds, Book 264:18.

18



Use of the Schoolroom

Much information about the origins of the schoolroom in the basement of the African Meeting
House is found in a report made in 1833 by a committee investigating the by-then poor condition of
the schoolroom. The report stated in part:

Meantime the site of the present school house & meeting house [the African
Meeting House] was purchased, the purchase money raised by subscription.
On behalf of the School the coloured Inhabitants subscribed a considerable
sum, and the late Chief Justice Parsons, the late Abiel Smith, Lieut. Gov.
Phillips, and seven other gentlemen subscribed one hundred dollars each.
The African Baptist Church erected the house of which the basement story
is now occupied in part by the School. There appears to have been a verbal
agreement that the whole of that story should be appropriated for a school
room, for the coloured youth of Boston, of all religious denominations, and
it also appears that Judge Parsons, and other gentleman made that a
condition of their donation. Some difficulty appears to have arisen in finally
adjusting the respective rights of the Church & School, which was
terminated by a committee of the latter consenting to accept a part of the
basement story for a school room. The remainder was leased for dwelling
houses, and the rents devoted to the support in part of the ministry in said
Church.

It remained for the coloured inhabitants to finish the interior of the School
room. This they did by subscription; about two hundred dollars appear to
have been subscribed, but much of it being subscribed by coloured seamen,
and the embargo coming on, only ninety eight dollars were in effect
collected. The whole expense was about three hundred dollars, and the
deficiency of about two hundred appears to have been made up by the
committee of the coloured Inhabitants, viz: Mssrs Primus Hall, Fortune
Symones and Cyrus Vasall. Mr. Abel Barbadoes generously contributed to
the labor of lathing and plastering. In 1808, the room was completed and
was immediately occupied by the School.

Upon the death of the late Abiel Smith Esq. in the year 1815, the City
assumed the entire care & support of the School. The only expense, which
the City has paid for the school room has been for repairs, but this has been
less than the income from Mr. Smith’s truly charitable bequest. . . .*

One 20th-century secondary source states that classes were meeting regularly in the basement
of the African Meeting House by 1806, and that they were being taught by Elisha Sylvester, a white

* Records of the School Commirtee, 1815-1836, October 11, 1833, pp. 401-402. One of a group of
handwritten, leather-bound volumes in the Rare Books and Manuscripts Division of the Boston Public Library.
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schoolmaster.** This statement is contradicted by four 19th-century sources. One of these is the

above-cited School Committee record. A second is the 1808 petition to the Massachusetts
legislature, which states that the schoolroom was not finished at that time. A third is an 1817 book
that says the first instructor was Prince Saunders, “a man of colour and of education,” whose school
“generally consisted of about forty scholars.™® Finally, an 1894 book says that the schoolroom
was completed in 1808, whereupon classes began immediately.’

All sources agree that prior to 1812, funding for the school consisted of subscriptions and
tuition.** The Town of Boston officially recognized the school in 1812 by granting it $200 per
year, under the direction of the Boston School Committee.*® In 1815, white merchant Abiel Smith
willed more than $4,000 worth of securities to the city of Boston for the education of black
children.®® As described by Brayley, “In 1815 Mr. Abiel Smith died and left a legacy of about
$5,000, the income from which was to be appropriated ‘for the free instruction of colored children,
in reading, writing, and arithmetic.””%! Smith is said to have done this because of his regard for,
and at the request of, Prince Saunders.’> After the estate was settled and income from the bequest
started to become available for use in 1817, the City assumed the entire care and support of the
school .

This arrangement apparently suited the church. When the members of the building committee
gave clear title to the meetinghouse property to the deacons in 1819, the deed of conveyance
mandated specific uses for various parts of the building. Concerning the schoolroom, it stated that:

the room in the basement story, which has been hitherto occupied for a
school room, to be used for that purpose for children of colour throughout
the Town of every denomination and to be under such direction of the select

45 Horton and Horton, p. 70.

46 Shaw, pp. 269-270.

4 Arthur Brayley, Schools and Schoolboys of Old Boston (Boston: Louis P. Hager, 1894), p. 48.
“8 Brayley, p. 48; Horton and Horton, p. 71.

4 Brayley, p. 48; A Volume of Records Relating to the Early History of Boston Containing Minutes of the
Selectmen’s Meetings 1811 to 1817, and part of 1818 (Boston: Municipal Printing Office, 1908), p. 315.

% Horton and Horton, p. 71.
5! Brayley, p. 48.

52 “Report to the Primary School Committee,” June 15, 1846 (Boston: City Document No. 23, 1846), p.
17.

%3 A Volume of Records Relating to the Early History of Boston Containing Minutes of the Selectmen's
Meetings, 1811 to 1817, and part of 1818 (Boston: Municipal Printing Office), pp. 206 and 212.
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However, it appears that the practice of charging tuition continued: one secondary source says that
by 1820, tuition was 12-1/2 cents per week per pupil.

In November 1816, a Sunday school was organized that probably also held its classes in the
schoolroom. This Sunday school at times had more members than did the church.’® The heavy use
received by this room probably explains why the room needed repairs only 10 years after it had been
completed. This was mentioned in the Boston Selectmen’s minutes for 1818:

The Chairman reported that he and Mr. Austin had viewed the school for
people of colour in Belknap street and directed Mr. Ellins what repairs to
make.”’

An excellent source of information about the church’s Sunday school from 1830 to 1835 is
the minutes of the Boston Baptist Association, to which Boston Baptist churches submitted annual
reports for the years 1812-1848. The African Baptist Church had been a charter member of the
association. “When the [Boston Baptist] Association was founded in 1811, the African Baptist
Church withdrew from the Warren Baptist Association of Rhode Island, with which it had been
affiliated since 1805, to become a charter member of the new Boston Association.”%?

In 1830, the Boston Baptist Association formed a school union. “School” in this case
probably referred to Sunday schools, which would have been organizationally separate from the
public school system. The association’s minutes for the years 1830-1835 give statistics for the
Sunday schools that were members of the union. The Sunday school at the African Baptist Church
was reported in 1830 to have a superintendent (C.C. Dean), 20 teachers, 141 scholars, and 140
volumes in the library (see figure 3). The same figures were reported for 1832. In 1834, the
number of scholars dropped to 110, of which it was reported that 33 were enrolled in the infant
classes, and 30 were enrolled in the Bible classes.

%% Horton and Horton, p. 71.
% Coleman, p. 43.
57 A Volume of Records, p. 275.

%% Horton and Horton, p. 40. Although the Boston Baptist Association was formed in 1811, its
Minutes—which listed member churches—did not begin until 1812.

¥ Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association, 1812-1848.
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This Sunday school was probably held initially in the same basement schoolroom where the
public school classes were held. The adjacent “minister’s rooms” would not have been available to
the Sunday school until 1832; as will be discussed shortly, these rooms apparently were rented out
until that year. After 1832, the Sunday school could have used these rooms, in addition to the
schoolroom.

The basement schoolroom was not only used for public-school classes, and possibly Sunday
school classes, but also for meetings. The meeting at which the New England Anti-Slavery Society
was formed was held in the schoolroom on the evening of January 6, 1832.%

By 1833, the poor condition of the schoolroom had caught the attention of the City of Boston
School Committee. A committee was formed to investigate, and it reported its findings in the
Records of the School Committee, 1815-1836 as an entry dated October 11, 1833. Part of this report
has already been quoted in this text. The report went on to say:

The situation of the room is low and confined. It is hot and stifled in
summer and cold in winter. But this is not the only or greatest objection to
it. The obvious contrast between the accommodations of the coloured, and
other children, both as to convenience and healthfulness seems to your
committee to be the principal cause of this school being so thinly attended.

The committee are therefore of opinion, that it is just as expedient that a
suitable building be forthwith provided.®!

The following year, construction commenced on a new school building on the adjacent lot east of
the African Meeting House; it was dedicated on February 10, 1835.2 It was named the “Smith
School,” in honor of Abiel Smith.%

Thereafter, the city no longer used the basement schoolroom in the African Meeting House
for public-school classes. In June 1835, and again in October 1835, an amendment to the African
Meeting House deed of 1819 was therefore entered in the Suffolk County Registry of Deeds:

Whereas said Town of Boston has ceased to provide any instruction for a
school in said basement room, but has made provision for instruction
elsewhere, it was the original intention that in such case the improvement
and control of said basement room should be in said Church of People of

% Coleman, pp. 81-82.

8! Records of the School Committee, 1815-1836, October 11, 1833, pp. 401-402. One of a group of
handwritten, leather-bound volumes in the Rare Books and Manuscripts Division of the Boston Public Library.

¢ Brayley, p. 48; William Minot, “Address at the Dedication of the Smith School, Boston,” 1835, p. S.

® For more information on the Abiel Smith School House, see Smith School House: Draft Historic
Structure Report, by Barbara A. Yocum (Cultural Resources Center, North Atlantic Region, NPS), 1990.
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Color and whereas questions have arisen as to who the right of improvement
and control of said basement room belonged, it is thought desirable to
remove such questions and that said church should have entire control of
such basement room heretofore for a school room.*

Having thus established clear title to the basement schoolroom, the church conveyed it in
1837 to the “Infant School Association for the Education of Colored Youths in Boston.”% In the
deed of conveyance, the deacons of the church agreed to “forever quit the right of sd. Church to the
possession, occupancy and use of sd. room.” The deacons did this “without requiring, asking,
demanding, recovering or receiving any tax, profit, income, assessment contributions, levy or
payment of any kind. "%

It is not known if the church continued to have a Sunday school. Such a school would have
been able to meet in the “minister’s rooms,” which remained vacant until about 1850. However,
in 1836 the Boston Baptist Association minutes cease to include statistics for all churches’ Sunday
schools. It appears that the post-1835 statistics were published separately, and that those for the
period 1836-1852 could not be located.®’” The statistics for the period 1853 onward are available
as part of the minutes of the Sabbath School Teacher’s Convention. These apparently were
preserved by being incorporated into the minutes for those years of the Boston South Baptist
Association, which had been created out of the old Boston Baptist Association in 1848. Around
1840, the Infant School Association vacated the basement schoolroom.® The association’s legal
right to the space remained in effect, however, so it is unlikely that the church used the room during
the 1840’s.

Use of the “Minister’s Rooms”

The documentary evidence indicates that in addition to the schoolroom, the basement/first
story of the 1806 meetinghouse contained a suite of rooms intended for use as a parsonage.
However, the first minister of the church—Thomas Paul, who served from 1806 to
1829%—apparently never lived there. The city directories list Paul’s address as Belknap Street in
1813, Cambridge Street in 1821, and George Street after 1823. It is likely that school instructor

& Registry, Books 391:289 and 401:199.

% Registry, Book 423:102.

% Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association.

 The records do not exist in the library of the Andover-Newton Theological School.
% Registry, Book 676:302.

® Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association, 1812-1848; “Historical Sketch (1975).”

24



Prince Saunders lived in the basement rooms at least for awhile, since the 1813 city directory lists
his address as May’s Court.”

It is not known whether or not Saunders’ residence was part of a formal lease by the church,
or merely a convenient, informal arrangement. However, beginning in 1821, the “minister’s rooms”
became an active rental property. When the last of the money owed to the building committee was
paid off in 1819, members of that committee officially conveyed the land and the church “thereon”
to the deacons of the African Baptist Church. The deed of conveyance mandated specific uses for
various parts of the building. Concerning the “Minister’s rooms,” it stated that:

The other rooms in the basement (the rent of these) to be for the sole
purpose of paying the debts that have been or ever shall be incurred (as far
as it will go) for benefit of said church’s ministers.”’

In 1821, the deacons of the African Baptist Church followed the dictates of the 1819 deed
and leased to their minister, Thomas Paul, for 30 years:

the rooms in the basement of the Meetinghouse . . . in Belknap Street,
excepting the room in the basement which has hitherto been occupied for a
schoolroom . . . in consideration of the release by sd. church of the debt
due him from said church amounting to $2,825.”

Immediately following the granting of the 30-year lease in 1821, Paul sublet the basement
rooms to stockbroker Samuel Dana. Dana in turn sublet to a carver and gilder, Daniel Kidder, in
1822.7 From 1826 to 1831, Domingo Williams, “waiter,” is listed in the city directories as living
“under the Church” on May’s Court, although the rooms were not officially sublet to him. Whether
or not Dana, Kidder, and Williams worked out of these rooms or only resided there is not known.
William’s vocation as a waiter was described in his 1832 obituary in The Liberator:

Mr. Williams . . . has held the post of Attendant General to fashionable
parties, assemblies, and social entertainments, both public and private.
Whenever any such entertainment has been decided on, he has been sent for

™ Detwiller, “African Meeting House,” pp. 8-9. According to Chamberlain (pp. 115, 249), the
passageway off Belknap Street on which the African Meeting House was located became known as May’s
Court in 1812, and Smith’s Court in 1848. Belknap Street itself was renamed Joy Street: the portion on the
south slope of Beacon Hill was renamed in 1851, while the part on the north slope was renamed in 1855.

I Registry, Book 264:18.

7 Registry, Book 273:193.

7 Rosebrock, p. 20; Registry, Book 273:193.
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and consulted, as to the preliminary arrangements, and the ways and means
of bringing it about in a proper manner.”

For almost 20 years after Williams’ death, no listings appear in the city directories for
persons living in the basement of the church. The “minister’s rooms” may have been used during
this period by the church’s Sunday school, especially if such a school continued to exist after the
schoolroom was conveyed legally to the Infant School Association in 1837. By 1850, however,
someone may once again have been residing in the basement of the church. The tax assessment
records for 1850 list one Isaak Barbados as living “under the church.”” The City Directory listing
for 1850 describes “Isaac Barbadoes” as a musician, living in a house at 4 Smith Court. The latter
address is not the church; perhaps Barbados moved about this time.

Financial and Organizational Problems

The difficulty experienced by the African Baptist Church in paying off its construction debts
has already been discussed. In the late 1820’s, the church began to suffer organizational problems,
as well. “That harmony and christian union which had so long and so happily existed between pastor
[Thomas Paul] and people became interrupted” about 1828.7% Paul resigned in 1829, but dissention
continued (see figure 4). In 1832, there were references to “internal trials resulting in divisions and
party feelings.””’ In 1835, the congregation itself admitted to containing “majority” and “minority”
factions.” Several members had withdrawn, while others had returned.” The congregation was
forced in both 1835 and 1836 to seek financial aid from the First and Second Baptist Churches to
help pay its pastor’s salary.®® Nonetheless, the church reported that, “We have our Meeting-house
regularly attended.”®  Given this situation, it is surprising that the church requested no
compensation for the conveyance of its schoolroom to the Infant School Association in 1837.

™ Garrison, ed., “Obituary, Domingo Williams.”

> Beth A. Bower, “A Research Design for a Data Recovery Program at the African Meeting House,
Boston Massachusetts” (Roxbury, MA: Museum of Afro American History, n.d. [ca. 1985]), p. 6.

6 Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association; “Independent Baptist Church, Boston,” included in the
minutes of the Boston South Baptist Association for 1849.

" Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association.

8 Records of the First Baptist Church, Vol. Il (1831-1835), April 18, 1835; Records of the Second Baptist
Church (1833-1847), April 28, 1835.

™ Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association.
¥ Coleman, pp. 59, 69.
8 Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association.
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The precise reasons for this dissention are unclear. Its timing coincided with a sharp increase
in Boston antislavery sentiment and activity; one author believes that the congregation was split
between those members who thought the church should champion social reform, and those that did
not.®? Other scholars think that Paul was forced to resign because of illness and his frequent trips
away from Boston, and that the subsequent absence of strong pastoral leadership allowed personal
differences to fester.®® In November 1838, the Rev. George H. Black became pastor of the church.
Efforts were made in 1838 to resolve the “troubles and disputes, lawsuits and controversies” that had
plagued the congregation in former years. A new constitution and bylaws were adopted, and the
church incorporated under the new name of the “First Independent Baptist Church and Society in
Boston.”® The reason given for changing the church’s name from “African” to “First Independent
& C.” was that, “The term African is ill applied to a church composed of American citizens.”%
It was further reported that “Peace and brotherly love prevails.” However, by 1840 “existing
antagonisms” increased “until they rose to such a height as to rend the Church in twain.”* The
Rev. Black and about 40 members withdrew and established themselves in the loft of an adjacent
building. The next year, both factions wrote to the Boston Baptist Association, claiming to be the
actual church. The association investigated, and appointed a committee in 1842 to study the
problem.?” Several meetings were held, and the committee’s 1843 report stated that harmony had
apparently been restored. The committee noted that despite the church’s difficulties, “their meetings
have been regularly held and their pulpit has been supplied by students from Newton. %

The dissidents did not return to the church in large numbers, contrary to expectations. What
the Baptist Association committee assumed to be their acquiescence was apparently only silence due
to a lack of leadership; Black had died in 1842.%° The group must have decided to make the 1840
split permanent in 1843, because the church reported to the Boston Baptist Association that 46
members withdrew that year.”® These persons formed the Second African Baptist Church, which
became the Twelfth Baptist Church in 1848.°" The membership of the First Independent Baptist
Church continued to fluctuate. Other Baptist churches in Boston were complaining in 1848 “of the

% George A. Levesque, “Inherent Reformers-Inherited Orthodoxy: Black Baptists in Boston, 1800-1873,”
Journal of Negro History, No. 4 (1975), pp. 501-504.

¥ Horton and Horton, pp. 41-43.
¥ Registry, Book 435:171.

8 Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association, 1838. Horton and Horton incorrectly begin the quotation
with “The name . . . .”

% Levesque, p. 506.

¥ Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association.
8 See footnote 81.

¥ Levesque, p. 512.

% Minutes of the Boston Baptist Association.
! “Historical Sketch (1975).”
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loss of many of their members by emigration into the country.” ®> However, the black

congregation of the First Independent Church was probably reduced less by emigration and more by
competition: by 1860, there were five other black churches in Boston.*

The old Boston Baptist Association reorganized in 1848, dividing into a north and a south
branch. The Independent Baptist Church became affiliated with the Boston South Baptist
Association, which continued to issue minutes in the same manner as had the old Boston Baptist
Association. The next year, the Independent Church submitted its church history, which was printed
at the end of the Boston South Baptist Association minutes for that year.** Unfortunately, very little
mention is made of their building in this history.

2 Annual Reports of the Massachusetts Baptist Convention, 1824-1854.
% Horton and Horton, pp. 4, 43.
% Minutes of the Boston South Baptist Association, 1849-1867.
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THE YEARS 1852-1897

Fund-Raising for Renovations

A serious effort was begun in 1852 to raise funds to repair the African Meeting House, then
known as the “First Independent Baptist Church and Society in Boston.” The Massachusetts Baptist
Convention summarized in their annual report that “The Independent Church, Boston, are trying to
repair their house, and have a strong claim upon their brethren for help.”®

An appeal to the public for funds was prepared in June 1852, which stated in part:

The church at this time finds the meetinghouse to be very much in want of
repair, and in quite a dilapidated state, from the fact that when the house
was built, the windows and a greater portion of the timber had been in use
for years before, in the Rev. Dr. Lowell’s Church, which they were at that
time repairing, consequently it is very much decayed. . . . It is estimated
that the repairs will cost about Twenty-Five Hundred Dollars.

The appeal was endorsed by several people, one of whom stated that “the repairs proposed
. . would contribute greatly to the comfort of the congregation there.”®’

This appeal does not appear to have been published until August 1853, however: printed on
the same sheet as the appeal is a section clearly written in August 1853, and so dated. It seems that
little money was raised in the intervening period: the 1853 section of the appeal refers in part to
“The church, wishing . . . to have the work [of fund-raising] commence immediately.”*®

One likely explanation for this delay was the disruption of church life caused by the
enforcement of the Fugitive Slave Law in Boston in 1852. The effect of this law on the Independent
Church is described in a resolution passed by the Boston South Baptist Association, viz:

Resolved, that we deeply sympathize with our brethren of the Independent
Church in their sufferings and trials from the operation of the Fugitive Slave

% Annual Reports of the Massachusetts Baptist Convention, 1824-1854.
% First Independent Baptist Church, “To the Public.”

% See footnote 90.

% See footnote 90.
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Law, by which some of their leading members have been obliged to flee to
Canada for protection.”

The Rev. Dr. Lowell, retired pastor of the West Church, learned of the remodeling plans

proposed by the Independent Church, and attempted to rescue the pulpit that had formerly been in
the old West Church:

I heard in my retirement that the Society were about to remodel their house,
and fearing that the pulpit with which so many interesting associations were
connected would be destroyed, I expressed a wish to my physician (Dr.
Shattuck) that the pulpit might be rescued from destruction, and secured by
purchase to the parish to which it had originally belonged!'®

By 1855, the church apparently had collected enough money to begin repair work. This can
be inferred from a document filed March 1, 1855, by the deacons of the Independent Baptist Church
in an effort to repossess officially the basement schoolroom from the Infant School Association. This
“Evidence of Possession” document stated that:

Whereas it is expedient that some alterations and repairs now necessary
should be made. . . . Therefore . . . Deacons of this Church, be authorized
. . . to enter upon and into said Basement Room and School Room, and take
possession thereof . . . and to make such convenient and necessary
alterations in the staircase and otherwise and cause such repairs to be made
on the premises as they think necessary and proper. . . . The Church
resolves to take the aforegoing measure . . . under the circumstances and
neglect which have heretofore existed, and now exist, they expressly declare
that they have no hostile feelings towards said Association.'?!

Architectural Alterations

Renovation of the meetinghouse was completed in 1855, as was reported by the
Massachusetts Baptist Convention: “the Independent Church in Boston made extensive repairs on
their house of worship.”'® Concerning these renovations, William C. Nell made the following

% Minutes of the Boston South Baptist Association, 1849-1867.
10 Boston Christian Register, October 6, 1853.
101 Registry, Book 676:302.

192 Annual Reports of the Massachusetts Baptist Convention, 1851-1860.

31



remarks at a meeting of the First Independent Baptist Female Society on Friday evening, October
8, 1858:

Modern improvements have converted Belknap Street church and its vestry
into acceptable audience-roome [sic], and which with the Twelfth Baptist
Church . . . are ample for the meetings necessary in this locality.'®

The meeting took place in the “vestry” of the meetinghouse, about which Nell commented:

Several friends now present, with myself, assembled here for most if not all
the schooling we ever received, many of whom in this very room passed
through the primary and intermediate classes.'®

Nell also mentioned the old West Church pulpit that the Rev. Dr. Lowell had attempted to
save prior to the 1855 renovations:

Through some procrastination, this purpose . . . was not accomplished, and
the pulpit has, ere this, been consigned to the shades of oblivion, with the
exception of some portions retained as relics.'®

A photograph taken by Josiah Johnson Hawes (fig. 5) shows the exterior of the meetinghouse
as it probably appeared soon after renovations in 1855.'% Hawes took a number of photographs
that have been dated to “between the middle 1850’s and middle 1880’s” by Homer; the view that
is figure 5 has been dated to “about 1860.”'°" This date is supported by independent historical
research on the buildings adjacent to the meetinghouse. Figure 5 shows a two-story building to the
right of the meetinghouse, which was built in 1853.1%

19 Garrison, “Decade Meeting.”
104 See footnote 97.
105 See footnote 97.

19 Rachel J. Homer, ed., The Legacy of Josiah Johnson Hawes’ 19th Century Photographs of Boston
Barre, MA: Barre Publishers, 1972), p. 42.

7 Homer, p. 9.
198 Rosebrock; Detwiller, “African Meeting House,” between pp. 16-17.
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Figure 5. First Independent Baptist Church (circa 1860).
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The Hawes photograph, compared with the engraving of 1843, shows that while some
original (1806) architectural elements remained unchanged in 1855, a large number of them were
altered. For example, the cornice seen in the 1843 engraving is projecting and elaborate, while the
one seen in the ca.-1860 photograph is very plain. This may mean that the 1806 cornice was
constructed of wood and removed in 1855, or simply that the engraving was inaccurate in depicting
the cornice. A downspout for a gutter appears in the photograph, at the west end of the north (front)
elevation.

The two original ground-level doorways on the north elevation, located in the outer two of
the four blind arches on this elevation, were bricked up in 1855. Two new doorways were created
in the center two blind arches, where two windows had been located originally. Each doorway had
a pair of two-panel doors set deep into the brick wall. A small opening in the brickwork surrounding
the west doorway may have been a fresh-air intake for the basement furnace. A gas lamp was
installed between the doorways; the vertical pipe seen in the photograph below the lamp indicates
that the gas was supplied from the street. A commemorative stone plaque honoring Cato Gardner
can be seen between the doorways, near the lamp supports. The original doorway at the north end
of the east elevation appears to have remained unchanged in 1855.

The second- and third-story windows on the north elevation were enlarged in 1855 into two-
story, arched windows. The second- and third-story windows on the east elevation were lengthened
slightly; although those seen in the photograph closely resemble the six-over-six windows seen in the
engraving, careful study of the photograph shows them to be slightly longer, and mortar patching
can be seen on the lower brick window jambs.

The window sills on both north and east elevations are the same in both the engraving and
the photograph—plain, squared, and probably of wood. (These sills were described as being of wood
by the Historic American Buildings Survey drawings done of the building in 1934.) The 1843
engraving shows window lintels on both elevations, but the photograph shows them only on the north
elevation. This may mean that the east-elevation lintels were removed in 1855, or simply that the
engraving erred in including them.

Interior shutters of louvered and bi-fold design are seen at all windows in the ca.-1860
photograph. Since all of these windows appear to have been altered in 1855, it is thought that the
shutters also date to that time.

The ca.-1860 photograph also shows a front sidewalk of brick, with cut stone curbing, and
a board fence extending eastward from the northeast corner of the building. The fence is not seen
in the 1843 engraving, and so probably dates to 1855. It includes a gate that appears to be a cut-
down four-panel door—perhaps one of the 1806 exterior doors, altered and reused in this
location.'?

The exterior brickwork seen in the ca.-1860 photograph does not appear to be painted, while
the window casings, window sills, and the cornice board on the gable end appear to be a light color.
The absence of paint on the brick walls is indicated by the ability to discern the mortar patches on
the lower window jambs of the east elevation. Had the building been painted, these patches probably
would not have been visible in the photograph.

'® Detwiller, “African Meeting House,” p. 18.
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No documentary or photographic evidence exists for changes made to interior spaces in 1855.
As will be described in Chapter III, these were quite extensive. Nevertheless, the church’s Sunday
school appears to have continued to function without interruption during the work. As stated earlier,
the minutes of the Boston South Baptist Association began in 1853 to include the minutes of the
Sabbath School Teacher’s Association, which gave statistics for member churches’ Sunday schools.
These indicate that in 1853, the Independent Church had a “Sabbath School” consisting of 14 classes,
70 scholars, 14 teachers, and 400 volumes in the library.''® It is possible that the school made use
of the basement schoolroom, even though that room had been conveyed “forever” to the Infant
School Association in 1837.'"" The Infant School Association had not used the room since 1840,
and the association itself had been discontinued in 1850.!'2 The “minister’s rooms” in the
basement also may have been used for Sabbath School classes, although—as previously
mentioned—the rental of these rooms may have resumed circa 1850.

The annual letter from the Independent Baptist Church for 1855, summarized in the minutes
of the Sabbath School Teacher’s Convention, makes no mention of disruption due to renovations of
the basement area, or to the new facilities provided as a result of the work. The letter reports only
that:

The loss and the want of teachers is doubtless the great reason why we are

not in a more prosperous condition that we were last year. . . . Our school
is orderly, and we can say that much better attention is paid to getting their
lessons. '

Post-1855 Changes

For the 10-year period 1856-1866, written documentation on the meetinghouse is limited
primarily to the minutes of the Sabbath School Teacher’s Convention and membership records.
Enrollment in the Sunday school continued to decline after 1854, with the exception of a brief
resurgence in 1860. The declining number of scholars in 1862 was attributed to some of their young
men leaving and “rendering efficient service to our Army of the Potomac.”'* By 1864, the
number of volumes in the Sunday school library dropped from a high of 500 to a low of 100,
because the church “sent many of our books that had been read, to the freedmen of the South.”'!

10 Minutes of the Sabbath School Teacher’s Convention, 1853.
1! Registry, Book 423:102.
112 Registry, Book 676:302.
113 Minutes of the Sabbath School Teacher’s Convention, 1855.
114 Minutes of the Sabbath School Teacher’s Convention, 1862.
115 Minutes of the Sabbath School Teacher’s Convention, 1864.
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In this time period, church membership fluctuated from a low of 115 members in 1856 to a high of
205 members in 1862. Three different pastors occupied the pulpit.!!s

In the next 10 years, the largest number of members in the history of the Independent Baptist
Church and the meetinghouse was reached: 298, in 1874.'7 This apparently was related to the
great popularity of the Rev. Alexander Ellis, who came to the church in 1869. Ellis left in 1876,
along with 42 members of the church to found the Day Star Church (Morning Star).!®

A photograph of the meetinghouse taken about 1875 (fig. 6) shows us what the building
exterior looked like at that time.!*® As with the ca.-1860 view, the photograph is difficult to date
precisely based on the surrounding buildings. However, it obviously postdates circa 1860, because
of alterations to the building and various signs of deterioration. Two black women are included in
the photograph, one standing in front of the meetinghouse and one on the steps of the adjacent
building. This probably indicates a pre-1898 date, before the neighborhood became primarily Jewish
and the meetinghouse was sold by the black Baptist Church.

The ca.-1875 photograph shows that a number of changes occurred to the meetinghouse after
circa 1860. The board fence is seen to have been raised, piecemeal, and the gate removed. The
fence appears to be in a dilapidated condition. Deteriorating brick is seen on the east elevation,
beneath the sill of the northernmost third-story window. The lower section of the north-elevation
downspout is missing. The small hole in the brickwork surrounding the west doorway on the north
elevation has been filled in. The brick walls appear to have been painted by this time, since the
window-jamb patches are almost indistinguishable, and the brick walls are mottled where some paint
has weathered off. Another, more subtle change concerns the exterior gas lamp, which has received
a different-style hood. The rest of the lamp appears to have remained the same and the gas line still
runs from the street.

116 Minutes of the Boston South Baptist Association, 1849-1867 and 1868-1898.
17 See footnote 110.

118 «“Historical Sketch (1975).”

119 Detwiller, “African Meeting House,” between pp. 25-26.
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Figure 6. First Independent Baptist Church (circa 1875).
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In 1883, the 152 members of the “First Independent Church and Society in Boston” changed
its name to “St. Paul Baptist Church.”'? It continued to be a member of the Boston South Baptist
Association, but in 1893, the association reorganized, and St. Paul’s became affiliated with the
Boston West Baptist Association.”” Fortunately for the purposes of this report, the new West
Baptist Association continued to issue minutes in the same manner as had the South Baptist
Association.

By 1884, the minutes of the Boston South Baptist Association began to include a detailed
accounting of financial statistics for member churches. In 1890, “Home Expenses” for St..Paul
Church had increased $1,305 from the previous year—a significant amount that is unfortunately not
further defined. Conceivably, some of this amount could have been spent on the building. In 1892,
the minutes’ financial tables began to include a new category for “building or repairing.” This
category appears—under the title “Church Building Repairs and Improvements”—in the minutes of
the new Boston West Baptist Association for 1893 and thereafter. St. Paul’s can be seen to have
spent no money in this category from 1892 to 1897, except for $76.50 in 1893. Although no details
are known about the work done in 1893, it did not increase the stated property value of the
meetinghouse property, which remained at $22,000 from 1892 to 1897, with the building being
valued at $10,000.!%

120 Minutes of the Boston South Baptist Association, 1868-1898.
12l Minutes of the Boston West Baptist Association, 1893-1917.

122 Annual Reports of the Massachusetts Baptist Convention, 1881-1890 and 1891-1894; minutes of the
Boston South Baptist Association, 1868-1898; minutes of the Boston West Baptist Association, 1893-1917.
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THE YEARS 1898-1971

The End of Black Ownership

By 1898, St. Paul Baptist Church was in need of new quarters:

Owing to the increase of its membership, the majority of whom were living
at the South End, . . . [the church] decided that, as the building on Smith
Ct. was not large enough, it should be sold and the society move to its
present place of worship on Camden st.'?

The meetinghouse on Smith Court was purchased on November 10, 1898, by Samuel Tarplin
for $11,000.'** A mortgage for $11,000 was granted to Tarplin that same day by Kendall Taylor,
one of the trustees of St. Paul Baptist Church. In the mortgage deed, Tarplin specified his schedule
of payments to Taylor. In addition, Tarplin agreed:

I will, or my heirs or assigns shall begin on or before the twentieth (20th)
day of November current to improve the buildings on the granted premises
and shall within two months thereafter expend upon and improve said
buildings to the extent and value of not less than two thousand dollars.'?

Taylor in turn transferred the mortgage and deed to the Benevolent Fraternity of Churches
of Boston in 1898, and the Benevolent Fraternity transferred the mortgage and deed to the North End
Savings Bank in 1899.1%

Samuel Tarplin is listed in the 1898 Ciry Directory as being in “real estate,” and he may have
purchased the meetinghouse as an income property. A Jewish congregation new to Boston, the
Anshe Stonier, is listed in the 1899 Ciry Directory as being located at “3 Smith Ct.” Since there is
no other church building on Smith Court, and since the street numbering system appears to have
changed over the years, this no doubt referred to the meetinghouse. The following year, a different
Jewish congregation—Anshe Zytomir—is listed at this address; it remained there through 1903.
Tarplin most likely rented the building to these groups.

123 “Began with Twenty Members.”

12 Registry, Book 2566:305.

125 See footnote 118.

126 Registry, Books 2573:310 and 2640:112.
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In 1903, an agent of the North End Savings Bank reported that Samuel Tarplin had defaulted
on his mortgage, and that the property “with the church building thereon” would be sold at public
auction on December 12, 1903. Notice of the auction was published in at least one newspaper, the
Boston Traveler, on November 21 and 28, and December 5. The auction on December 12 was
adjourned to Monday, December 21, for unspecified reasons. On December 21, the property was
sold to Charles C. Barry of Melrose for $4,900.'”” Barry, who may have been acting as an agent,
immediately transferred the property “in consideration of $1” to Max Solomon of Malden and
Barnard Weinberg of Boston. Solomon and Weinberg obtained mortgages from the St. Paul Baptist
Church ($3,200) and the North End Savings Bank ($4,500).!%

In 1904, there is no Jewish organization listed in the City Directory at the Smith Court
meetinghouse. It is possible that Solomon and Weinberg, who obtained a combined mortgage $2,800
in excess of the purchase price of the building, planned on making repairs and/or renovations. Max
Solomon experienced financial difficulties, however, and declared bankruptcy in mid-1904. One-half
interest in the Smith Court property was conveyed to David Stern, who dealt in real estate, for
$125.'” That same month, Weinberg mortgaged his half interest in the property to Stern for $200.
The building at that time was “now numbered 2 on Smith Ct.”"° The property changed hands
once again when carpenter Simon Dobkin purchased David Stern’s half interest, and Weinberg and
Solomon’s half interest (subject to three mortgages), for $1 each in July 1904."' Dobkin
undertook immediately to register the land.'*?

The Congregation Anshi Libavitz

Being a carpenter, Simon Dobkin may have purchased the building in 1904 with the intention
of repairing it and selling it at a profit. In fact, certificate of title on the land was officially
transferred only four months later—in November 1904—to the Jewish Congregation Anshi
“Libaviz.”'® This name is found in the documentation also spelled, “Libavitz,” “Libovitz,”
“Libawitz,” “Lebavitz,” “Lebawich,” “Lebovitz,” and “Labavit.” The most common spelling
appears to be “Libavitz,” which will be used throughout the rest of this report.

127 Registry, Book 2940:562.

128 Registry, Book 2940:563, 565, 568.

12 Registry, Book 2980:90; 1904 City Directory.

130 Registry, Book 2976:177.

131 Registry, Book 2980:92; 1904 City Directory.

132 Registry, Book 2985:430, and Land Registration Book 3:123, Cert. #723.
133 Registry, Land Registration Book 3:127, Cert. #723.
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Since the Congregation Anshi Libavitz purchased the meetinghouse in 1904, one would
assume that it occupied the building after that time. The city directories, however, are confusing
on this point. From 1899 to 1901, Anshi Libavitz is listed at 188 Hanover Street. It does not appear
in any city directory again until 1927. Rather, “Adath Jesura Nusach Ari” is listed at “Joy, cor.
Smith Ct.” from 1905 to 1907; at “2 Smith Ct.” from 1908 to 1914; and at “8 Smith Ct.” from
1915 to 1926. All of these addresses probably refer to the meetinghouse. Both “Adath Jesura
Nusach Ari” and the Congregation Libavitz are listed at “8 Smith Ct.” from 1927 to 1932. Anshi
Libavitz alone is listed at “8 Smith Ct.” after 1932.

While it may appear from the city directories that the “Adath Jesura Nusach Ari” occupied
the Smith Court meetinghouse from 1905 to 1926, and shared the building with the Congregation
Libavitz from 1927 to 1932, in fact the two groups are most likely one and the same. Anshi
Libavitz, translated from Yiddish to English, means “the men of Libavitz.” “Adath Jesura Nusach
Ari” means “The Congregation Which Prays According to the Ari Rituals.”** This term could
have been one way of describing the Congregation Libavitz. Also, the minute book for the years
1908-1914 of the Congregation Libavitz, which purchased the meetinghouse in 1904, makes no
mention of leasing the building or sharing it with another congregation.

In conclusion, the documentation suggests that the Congregation Libavitz prayed “according
to the Ari Rituals” from circa 1905 to at least 1932, and occupied the African Meeting House from
1905 until the 1970’s.

The earliest extant record book of the Congregation Libavitz is a minute book for the period
November 1907 (almost exactly three years after the congregation purchased the meetinghouse) to
November 1914. Entries made in this book that refer specifically to the building have been
translated from Yiddish to English. Major renovations appear to have been made during this time
period, including the installation of electricity in 1908, and perhaps additional electrical work in
1911, and unspecified work of major proportions in 1912. The entries for these years are
summarized below:

1907 Utility expenses include bills for gas and coal

1908 Electric lighting installed during the summer. Gas bills
decrease after installation, but do not disappear
(e.g., Nov. 17, 1907 - $6.10 vs. Dec. 20, 1908 - $3.04)
Plumbing job (no details - $20.)

1909 Roofing job, $15 (March)
Sidewalk repaired, $10.15 (July)
Sewage system repaired, $81 (August)

1910 Floor repaired in the hallway
Fence installed along eastern boundary across from new building
(total cost for floor and fence - $30)

13 Translator David Fishman to Barbara Pearson, May 6, 1982.
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1911 Roofing, $30.00
Fixing electrical system, $105.81 (this may have been an extension
of the existing system)

1912 Unspecified work done throughout the summer and fall. Committee on Repairs
appointed to oversee alterations and repairs. Three-year extension granted on
$4,500 North End Savings Bank mortgage, and second mortgage for $1,500
taken out.’®® Synagogue funds transferred to committee. Building
committee records have not survived

Carpentry, $37 (July)
All reparations [sic] completed by minutes of November 10

1913 Platform for the cantor and reading of the Torah reconstructed (total for lumber,
carpentry, and painting, $233.89)

1914 Bills for coal reappear after 2-year absence
Window repaired, $15

The next records of the Congregation Libavitz, written in Yiddish, are the minute books
spanning the years 1923 to 1936, and the cash books covering 1930 to 1946. These books were not
reviewed by anyone familiar with Yiddish for this study; as recommended in Chapter I, they should
be translated into English. Other sources researched for this time period included the building
records that are part of the Historic American Buildings Survey (HABS), and magazine articles.

The records of the City of Boston Building Department in 1915 cite an unspecified building
violation concerning a one-story building at the rear of 8 Smith Court. This building may very well
be the “shed” shown on the 1934 HABS drawings in the southwest backyard. The shed depicted
in 1934 may have been the remains of a longer “slate clad” shed shown on the Boston City Atlas of
1873, corrected to 1882.¢ The Congregation Libavitz acquired the land on which the shed stood
in 1909.7 Neighborhood residents remembered that an oil tank was located in the shed.!®

The earliest known architectural drawings of the meetinghouse are the HABS drawings done
in 1934 (figs. 7-9). Exterior photographs also were taken by HABS, in 1937 (e.g., fig. 10). Those
photographs taken from the same location as the 1843 engraving, and the ca.-1860 and ca.-1875
photographs, show that a number of changes had occurred to the building since circa 1875.

1% Registry, Book 3657:301-302.

136 Detwiller, “African Meeting House,” between pp. 16-17.
137 Registry, Book 3426:553.

138 Bower, pp. 16-17, 19.
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On the north elevation, the two-panel doors of the two double doorways had been changed
to four-panel doors with two-light transoms. The doors had also been repositioned, so as to be flush
with the exterior surface of the brick wall. The two-story windows had been divided by a middle
spandrel and fitted with new, double-hung sashes containing stained glass. The gas lamp was
removed, and replaced by an electric fixture above the left doorway. The arched lintels above the
doorways of the blind arches and the two-story arched windows were painted a light color. On the
east elevation, a vertical sewer pipe and a board sign were added. The wood sill of the upper-story
window, right side, was replaced by bricks. The board fence also had been altered, and the interior
louvered blinds removed.

The earliest interior photographs of the meetinghouse are those taken by HABS at the same
time the exterior was photographed, in 1937 (figs. 11-17). While no photographs of the first-story
entry or basement rooms are included, the 1934 HABS floor plan of this area gives us an idea of the
layout and some materials used. The first story was divided into an entrance lobby, two toilets
(located beneath the stairs), an office, a “heater room,” and a large meeting room. The walls in the
meeting room are described as “beaded sheathing painted.” The upstairs was divided into a front
foyer and a main sanctuary with apse and U-shaped gallery.

By the early 1940’s, the fortunes of the Congregation Libavitz had begun to decline. A
contemporaneous account says that the congregation had “fallen on famine days. Its constituency
from the north and west ends [had] moved to more modern districts of the city.”'** This may have
been somewhat of an overstatement, since the congregation continued to occupy the meetinghouse
for another 30 years. It does, however, provide a sense of the financial limitations that affected the
upkeep of the meetinghouse for those three decades.

' Friedman, p. 1.
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